THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

NOV 24 2015

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2015-001159

Walter Smith,Plaintiff/ Respondent

v.

Norman K. Tiffany, Individually, Brown Trucking Company;
and Brown Integrated Logistics,Defendants/Appellants

AND

Brown Trucking Company and Brown Integrated Logistics,Third-Party
Plaintiffs/Appellants

v.

Corbett James Mizzell, III,Third-Party Defendant/Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

T. McRoy Shelley, III
Steven T. Moon
Rogers Townsend & Thomas, PC
Post Office Box 100200
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Main 803.771-7900; Fax 803.343-7017

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON THE SAME LEGAL ISSUES REJECTED BY A PRIOR CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE SOUTH CAROLINA IS NO LONGER A PURE JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY JURISDICTION

- A. The common law rule that a plaintiff has exclusive control over which tortfeasors the jury can consider in allocating fault cannot survive the abrogation of pure joint and several liability**
- B. The text, structure, and purpose of S.C. Code § 15-38-15 demonstrate the inclusion of at-fault entities in the allocation of fault is both proper and necessary to prevent the unwarranted imposition of joint and several liability on defendants who are less than 50% at fault**
- C. Due process requires abrogation of the harsh common law rule of joint & several liability**

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN BLOCKING THE DEPOSITION OF PLAINTIFF SMITH BASED ON THE POSSIBILITY HE MIGHT BECOME ANXIOUS AND PROVIDE INACCURATE RESPONSES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal involves two Orders of the Circuit Court. One Order granted summary judgment to Third-Party Defendant Mizzell on all claims alleged in the Third-Party Complaint.¹ The second Order granted Plaintiff's motion to quash the notice of Plaintiff Smith's deposition.²

The case arises out of a traffic accident that occurred December 7, 2012, in front of a rural gas station/convenience store on Highway 178 in Saluda County.³ Prior to filing suit, Plaintiff entered into a Covenant Not to Execute with Corbett James Mizzell, the driver who pulled out from the store parking lot and collided with Plaintiff's vehicle. The Covenant, signed February 8, 2013, expressly reserved the right of Plaintiff to file suit against Mizzell.⁴

On April 25, 2013, Plaintiff filed a complaint against Norman K. Tiffany, Brown Trucking Company, and Brown Integrated Logistics alleging various negligence-based causes of action related to the December 7, 2012, accident. Tiffany had been operating a tractor-trailer that was parked at the store at the time of the accident. Plaintiff did not sue Mizzell.⁵

Defendants timely filed Answers, and Brown Trucking Company and Brown Integrated Logistics (the "Brown Defendants") additionally filed a Third-party

1 Order granting Mizzell's Motion for Summary Judgment, 5/15/2015. ROA x

2 Order quashing notice of Plaintiff's deposition, 4/30/2015. ROA x

3 Plaintiff's Complaint, 4/25/2013. ROA x

4 Covenant Not to Execute, submitted at 3/18/2015 court hearing. ROA x

5 Plaintiff's Summons and Complaint, 4/25/2013. ROA x

Complaint⁶ against Corbett James Mizzell, III.⁷ Mizzell failed to Answer and an Entry of Default was filed against him. Mizzell thereafter obtained counsel and filed a Motion to Set Aside Default as well as a Motion to Dismiss the Third-party Complaint.⁸ A hearing on these motions was held on November 12, 2013, before Circuit Court Judge William H. Seals, Jr.. At the hearing, Judge Seals set aside the entry of default and denied Mizzell's Motion to Dismiss.⁹ The formal written order "Granting Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default and Denying Motion to Dismiss filed by Third Party Defendant Mizzell" was filed December 31, 2013.¹⁰ There was no motion to reconsider.

The parties then engaged in discovery. On or about May 9, 2014, Mizzell filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to all causes of action in the third-party Complaint.¹¹ Additionally, on or about May 13, 2014, Plaintiff filed a motion to quash the notice of Plaintiff Smith's deposition and for a protective order against such deposition.¹²

On November 5, 2014, Plaintiff's counsel obtained an order from the Saluda County Probate Court appointing a conservator for Walter Smith.¹³ None of the other parties to this action were involved in that petition, received notice of the petition, or participated in any proceedings related to the petition.

The parties filed various memoranda in support of pending motions, and a hearing was held on March 18, 2015, before circuit court Judge R. Lawton McIntosh on, *inter*

6 Answer, Defendant Tiffany, Answer and Third-Party Complaint, Brown Defendants, both 6/17/2013. ROA x

7 This is the same person who received the Covenant Not to Execute.

8 Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default, 8/26/2013. ROA x

9 Filed Form 4, 11/12/2013. ROA x

10 Order of Judge William Seals, 12/31/2013. ROA x

11 Mizzell MSJ, 5/9/2014. ROA x

12 Plaintiff's Motion to Quash Plaintiff's Deposition, 5/13/2014. ROA x

13 Order Appointing Conservator, 11/5/2014. ROA x

alia, Third-party Defendant Mizzell's motion for summary judgment and Plaintiff's motion to quash the notice of his deposition.¹⁴

By Order filed April 30, 2015, Judge McIntosh granted Plaintiff's motion to quash the Defendants' notice of deposition of Plaintiff Walter Smith.^{15,16} By Order filed May 15, 2015, Judge McIntosh granted Mizzell's motion for summary judgment on the Third-party Complaint.¹⁷

The Brown Defendants timely filed a Notice of Appeal as to both Orders.¹⁸ This Court granted a motion under Rule 204(b) to certify the appeal directly.¹⁹

FACTS

At approximately 6:20 a.m. on December 7, 2012, a pickup truck driven by Corbett James Mizzell, III, exited the parking lot of a rural Citgo gas station/convenience store on Highway 178 in Saluda County. Mizzell struck a pickup truck being driven by Walter Smith, causing the Smith pickup to exit the road, flip, and strike a power pole. Smith was treated and released, having suffered several small cervical vertebrae fractures

14 Hearing of 3/18/2015 transcript, caption pages, pp. 4 – 5. ROA x

15 Order Quashing Plaintiff's Deposition, 4/30/2015. ROA x

16 Appellants recognize this Order would not ordinarily be immediately appealable but request the Court consider it in conjunction with the Order granting summary judgment (See, e.g., Brown v. Cnty. of Berkeley, 366 S.C. 354, 362, 622 S.E.2d 533, 538 (2005); Olson v. Faculty House of Carolina, Inc., 344 S.C. 194, 216, 544 S.E.2d 38, 49 (Ct. App. 2001) aff'd, 354 S.C. 161, 580 S.E.2d 440 (2003) (“[T]he courts have made a practice of accepting appeals of denials of interlocutory orders not ordinarily immediately appealable when these appeals are companion to issues that are reviewable.”), or, in the Court's discretion, for the guidance of the parties and trial court and possibly preventing a future appeal on this issue.

17 Order Granting Mizzell's MSJ, 5/15/2015. ROA x

18 Clocked-in Notice of Appeal (not including attachments), 5/28/2015. ROA x

19 Order Granting Respondents' Motion to Certify directly to the Supreme Court, 10/9/2015. ROA x

which later required surgery.^{20, 21}

At the time of the accident, a tractor-trailer owned by the Brown Defendants was parked parallel to Highway 178 at the front of the Citgo parking lot; Defendant Norman K. Tiffany was sitting in the driver's seat of the parked tractor-trailer, listening to the radio, when the accident occurred.²² The tractor-trailer was not moving at the time of the collision and was not physically involved in the collision.²³ Mizzell had pulled into the parking lot by going behind the tractor-trailer to the front of the store.²⁴ It is undisputed Mizzell saw the tractor-trailer and took note of its position when he entered the parking lot.²⁵ However, when Mizzell left the Citgo parking lot, intending to turn right on Highway 378, he did so in front of the tractor-trailer, placing it between him and any traffic traveling in the lane closest to him.²⁶

Concerning his view of traffic on Highway 178, Mizzell initially testified at his deposition he could see down the highway past the Brown truck but did not see any approaching traffic; however, he shortly thereafter changed his testimony and claimed the tractor-trailer blocked his view as he was trying to exit in front of it.²⁷

Mizzell was charged with Failure to Yield the Right-of-Way.²⁸ At his deposition, Mizzell admitted he was at fault to some degree in causing this collision:

20 Plaintiff's Complaint, 4/25/2013; Collision Report, Ex. A submitted at 11/12/2013 hearing. ROA x

21 Fortunately, Plaintiff was not paralyzed.

22 Collision Report. ROA x; Deposition of Tiffany, p.52, line 17-24. ROA x

23 *Id.* ROA x

24 Mizzell deposition excerpts, submitted or cited to Court at 3/18/2015 hearing, pp. 30, 31, 39, 40, 43-49, 53; Hearing transcript, pp. 54 – 56. ROA x

25 *Id.* ROA x

26 *Id.* ROA x

27 *Id.* ROA x

28 Collision Report. ROA x

Q: Okay. Do you believe that you're at fault at all in this accident?

A: I -- I agree with the police report that says that I failed to yield right-of-way.²⁹

No one has offered evidence to the contrary.

Law enforcement who investigated the collision determined the tractor-trailer was parked lawfully.³⁰ There is no dispute the Brown truck was parked in a place where it had a right to be. (Plaintiff's allegations relate to the manner in which it was parked – i.e., with no flashers or warning triangles.³¹ Defendants dispute that flashers or warning triangles are necessary when parked in a parking lot.)

Mizzell had minimum liability insurance coverage.³² Plaintiff accepted Mizzell's minimum coverage in exchange for a Covenant Not to Execute.³³ Plaintiff then sued only Tiffany and the Brown Defendants.³⁴

There is no assertion that Mizzell is immune, that the court lacks personal jurisdiction over him, or any other argument that he is otherwise not subject to suit. In addition, the issues related to Mizzell's default have been resolved and there is no dispute Mizzell was, as a matter of procedure, properly joined as a Third-Party defendant.³⁵

Relevant to the Order preventing plaintiff's deposition, the Order relies entirely upon the opinions of Plaintiff's expert Dr. Marshall White.

29 Mizzell deposition excerpts, submitted or cited to Court at 3/18/2015 hearing, pp. 30 - 31, 39 -40, 43-49, 53; Hearing transcript, pp. 54-56. ROA x

30 Collision Report. ROA x

31 Plaintiff also argues other places "would have been safer," but, even if true, this does affect the right of the truck to be parked where it was.

32 Covenant Not to Execute, submitted at 3/18/2015 court hearing. ROA x

33 Covenant Not to Execute, submitted at 3/18/2015 court hearing. ROA x

34 Plaintiff's Complaint, 4/25/2013. ROA x

35 Mizzell and Plaintiff argue he cannot be joined as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

Summary of the Argument

The Third-Party Complaint asserts three causes of action. The first two demand the right to have Mizzell included in any fault allocation (the “allocation causes of action”). The third cause of action is for negligence and is included to support the allocation causes of action (by asserting Mizzell is at fault, in whole or in part, for damages alleged by Plaintiff), to provide Mizzell notice of this claim and an opportunity to defend, and to support a direct claim against Mizzell for the Brown Defendants’ costs in defending Plaintiff’s claims, which would not have occurred but for Mizzell’s failure to yield.

The initial issue in this case invokes the rule that one circuit court judge cannot overrule another circuit court judge. Summary judgment was granted based on the same legal arguments previously rejected by another circuit court judge in denying Mizzell’s motion to dismiss.³⁶

The Order granting summary judgment on the two allocation causes of action is based exclusively upon the common law rule “a plaintiff has the sole right to determine which co-tortfeasor(s) [to] sue” (hereinafter, the “Plaintiff chooses” rule); however, our caselaw (and logical analysis) show the “Plaintiff chooses” rule is derived from, *and can continue to exist only in*, a pure joint and several liability jurisdiction. If any tortfeasor, regardless of the degree of fault, is fully jointly and severally liable to the plaintiff, it is

³⁶ This issue, if decided in Appellant’s favor, would be dispositive on the appeal of the summary judgment order.

irrelevant (for purposes of the claim against that defendant) if some other tortfeasor is also liable; therefore, under pure joint and several liability, it does not matter which tortfeasor (or how many) the plaintiff sues. This rule, however, cannot survive the passage of S.C. Code § 15-38-15, which explicitly modified the common law pure joint and several liability doctrine, nor can it survive a due process analysis of the rights of those who are sued to be responsible only in proportion to their degree of fault.³⁷

S.C. Code § 15-38-15 provides a substantive right to defendants who are less than 50% at fault (and do not fall under other exceptions; see 15-38-15(F)) to be free from the punitive imposition of joint and several liability. Because of the procedural structure imposed by §15-38-15, a jury must be allowed to consider the total fault of all parties and potential tortfeasors. In a case such as this, the defendants should be allowed to name Mizzell as a party in order for the jury to allocate 100% percent of the fault “to the plaintiff and to the defendants” as outlined by § 15-38-15(C)(3).

In addition, due process considerations of fairness and equity, which a number of jurisdictions have invoked to modify or eliminate joint and several liability, also mandate that a fact-finder be allowed to consider the fault of others in order to properly assess a defendant’s share of fault.

Regarding the Order preventing the deposition of Plaintiff, Appellants contend the finding of a particularized harm to Plaintiff is not supported by the evidence and the prohibition against deposing the Plaintiff will unfairly prejudice Defendants.

³⁷ If the Court agrees the “plaintiff chooses” rule no longer survives, the Order granting summary judgment to Mizzell would be reversed and he remains a party, in which case there is no need to address the statutory interpretation of § 15-38-15 or the due process issues. (Although both continue to be issues in other cases and, if nothing else, are academically intriguing.)

Standard of Review

An appellate court reviewing an order on a motion for summary judgment, like the trial court ruling on the motion, “must view all ambiguities, conclusions, and all inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” *Smith v. Breedlove*, 377 S.C. 415, 661 S.E.2d 67 (2008) (See also, Rule 56(c), SCRCivP.) “Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). If there is no material dispute as to evidentiary facts, but the conclusion to be drawn from those facts is in dispute, summary judgment is improper. *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010) (“Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” (internal citation omitted).)

In reviewing an order regarding a discovery request, the appellate court will generally reverse only for an abuse of discretion (*Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 381 S.E.2d 734 (1989)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's order is controlled by an error of law or when there is no evidentiary support for the trial court's factual conclusions.” *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, No. 2013-001452, 2015 WL 5247124, at *10 (S.C. Sept. 9, 2015) [not yet released for publication], citing *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885 (2009).

**I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT
BASED ON THE SAME LEGAL ISSUES REJECTED BY A PRIOR CIRCUIT
COURT JUDGE**

A) The reversal of a prior judge's Order –Background

The Third-Party Complaint against Mizzell asserts three claims: a right to declaratory judgment that the Brown Defendants are entitled to have fault allocated to Mizzell, a direct claim for allocation based on S.C. Code § 15-38-15 and due process, and a claim that Mizzell was negligent. Mizzell moved to dismiss the Third-Party Complaint, arguing the Third-Party Complaint was improper based on the common law rule that “a plaintiff has the sole right as a matter of law to determine which co-tortfeasor(s) [to] sue” (the “Plaintiff chooses” rule).

The Honorable William H. Seals denied the Motion to Dismiss, finding “a defendant in a South Carolina case which does not involve governmental entities has a clear statutory right to have its fault allocated pursuant to § 15-38-15.” In addition, Judge Seals found that failing to allow fault allocation to Mizzell “would undermine the purpose of S.C. Code § 15-38-15 and the procedural and substantive rights of a Defendant to pay no more than its fair share of damages” and that fault allocation to a tortfeasor such as Mizzell was necessary “in order to protect the rights granted under § 15-38-15 and the due process protections of both the State and Federal Constitutions.”

Mizzell then filed a motion for summary judgment on the Third-Party Complaint. As to the allocation causes of action, Mizzell's argument for summary judgment (joined by the Plaintiff in a Motion to Strike) was the same as its argument on the Motion to Dismiss - the plaintiff has the sole right to choose who is a party. Judge McIntosh granted

the motion on this ground, which resulted in this appeal.

The only difference between the Motion to Dismiss and the Motion for Summary Judgment involved the negligence cause of action. Mizzell introduced evidence Plaintiff settled with Mizzell under a Covenant Not to Execute prior to suing Tiffany and the Brown Defendants, and, additionally, that Brown had suffered no damages other than legal fees and expenses defending the present suit, which Mizzell argued were not sufficient to support the negligence claim.

In granting summary judgment to Mizzell, Judge McIntosh held there could be no negligence claim because Brown had suffered no cognizable damages. On the joinder and allocation issues, the judge held a plaintiff has the sole right to determine which tortfeasors to sue, that S.C. Code § 15-38-15 did nothing to change this, and that “Mizzell's inclusion in this action is, therefore, not necessary for the just adjudication of the Plaintiff's claims under Rule 19, the third-party complaint is not proper under Rule 14, and Brown's due process rights are not violated by the inability to join Mizzell or include him for purposes of allocation.”

B) The reversal of a prior judge's Order – Law

Our courts have uniformly held “[o]ne Circuit Court Judge does not have the authority to set aside the order of another.” *Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602 340 S.E.2d 546 (SC 1986) (citing *Cook v. Taylor*, 272 S.C. 536, 252 S.E.2d 923 (1979).) “A succeeding judge will not rescind an order made by a preceding judge; ... [u]niformity and harmony in our courts necessarily demand that such be the law... .” *Dukes & Dukes, Inc. v. Hygrade Food Products Corp.*, 236 S.C. 69, 113 S.E.2d 254

(1960) (internal citations omitted; collecting cases.) Numerous cases are in accord. (See, e.g., *Ex parte State*, 263 S.C. 363, 367-68, 210 S.E.2d 600, 602 (1974); *Carolina Baking Co. v. Geilfuss*, 169 S.C. 348, 168 S.E. 849, 851 (1933); *Frampton v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 406 S.C. 377, 386, 752 S.E.2d 269, 274 (Ct.App.2013).)

The rule applies even if the reviewing court believes the original order might be incorrect. (See, e.g., *State v. Harrelson*, 211 S.C. 11, 43 S.E.2d 593 (1947) (“Although we have stated we are in accord with the holding of Judge Dennis ... [it] ... is in conflict with the previous ruling of Judge Gaston, ... [and] ... will have to be reversed since one Circuit Judge has no power to review, revise or reverse the action of another Circuit Judge.”).)

Here, as to the allocation issues, Judge McIntosh overturned the Order of Judge Seals based on the same “plaintiff chooses” legal argument rejected by Judge Seals. This was improper, and the case should be remanded to the circuit court to proceed based upon the Order of Judge Seals.

C) Negligence Issue

In his Motion to Dismiss, Mizzell asserted the negligence claim should be dismissed for failure to “state a colorable claim for negligence”³⁸ because the Brown Defendants did not claim they were directly harmed by Mizzell’s negligence. However, the Third-party complaint does allege the Brown Defendants “suffered losses including legal fees and expenses in responding to this action” as a result of Mizzell’s negligence.³⁹

Judge Seals ruled generally that all three causes of action “are properly pled causes of

38 Mizzell’s Memorandum in support of his Motion to Dismiss, p.4. ROA x

39 Answer and Third-Party Complaint, ¶ 81. ROA x

action against Mizzell.”

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