THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001159

**RECEIVED**

JAN 22 2016

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Walter Smith, ..... Respondent,

v.

Norman K. Tiffany, Brown Trucking Company and  
Brown Integrated Logistics, Inc., ..... Appellants,

v.

Corbett James Mizzell, III, ..... Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
WALTER SMITH**

---

Allan P. Sloan, III, SC Bar #006914  
Kristen B. Fehsenfeld, SC Bar #76971  
PIERCE, HERNS, SLOAN & WILSON, LLC  
P.O. Box 22437  
Charleston, SC 29402  
Phone: (843)722-7733; Fax: (843)722-7732

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON FACTUAL EVIDENCE REVEALED THROUGH DISCOVERY AND, IN DOING SO, DID NOT RESCIND OR OVERRULE THE PRIOR ORDER OF JUDGE SEALS DENYING RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS.**

Judge McIntosh’s Order granting summary judgment did not have the effect of overruling the prior order denying Plaintiff’s motion to dismiss. While it is correct that one circuit court judge may not overrule another, the issues here, i.e. dismissal versus summary judgment, are not the

same and, therefore, did not violate the rule. See Salmonsens v. CGD, Inc., 377 S.C. 442, 454, 661 S.E.2d 81, 88 (2008) (finding rule not violated where prior ruling of one circuit court judge did not address precise issues in subsequent ruling by another circuit court judge regarding the method of class certification). No matter how Appellants' attempt to characterize Judge McIntosh's Order, a summary judgment ruling on a subsequent motion simply cannot rescind a prior ruling on a motion to dismiss which applies an entirely different standard and procedural posture. Indeed, circuit judges often grant summary judgment on a claim or claims that a prior judge may have allowed to proceed at the preliminary Rule 12(b)(6) stage. In such instances, as in the present case, the court's determination relies on evidence revealed through the discovery process which was not previously available on a motion to dismiss based solely on the pleadings.

Salmonsens v. CGD is particularly instructive. There, this Court was tasked with determining whether the decision of one circuit court judge establishing an "opt-in" notice procedure for putative class members overruled another circuit court judge's prior rulings regarding scheduling of trial and class certification. Id. at 454, 661 S.E.2d at 88. Finding no violation by the subsequent ruling, the Court distinguished the two rulings on the basis that the first judge never ruled on the method of class notification nor did he designate the action as an "opt-out" class action. Id. Moreover, the Court observed that class certification could be altered at any time prior to a decision on the merits. Id.

In the present case, as in Salmonsens, the subsequent ruling of Judge McIntosh addresses factual issues, not mere allegations, under a different procedural rule and an entirely different standard. For instance, the standard applicable on a motion to dismiss is set forth under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, and is far less burdensome than the standard required at summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRPC. A circuit judge reviewing a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) is

limited to reviewing only the allegations of the pleadings and construing those allegations in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Plyler v. Burns, 373 S.C. 637, 647 S.E.2d 188 (2007) (When deciding a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief). By contrast, the scope of review of a circuit judge reviewing a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRCF, is broadened to include a review of factual evidence supporting a nonmoving party's claim. Rule 56(c), SCRCF. On a motion for summary judgment, the circuit judge must construe the facts—not merely the allegations—in order to determine whether a verdict for that party would be reasonable. See Bloom v. Ravoira, 339 S.C. 417, 529 S.E.2d 710 (2000) (when reviewing a summary judgment motion, the court must view the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party; nonetheless, a court cannot ignore facts unfavorable to that party, and it must determine whether a verdict for that party would be reasonably possible under the facts).

Here, the facts construed in favor of Appellants—facts not available to Judge Seals and premature at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage—simply fail to support Appellants' third-party claim against Respondent Mizzell. Judge McIntosh observed Appellants failed to present any evidence that Mizzell breached a duty owed to Appellants. (Order on MSJ at p. 4). Appellants further failed to establish any evidence of injury or damages as a result of the accident or any conduct of Mizzell during the accident. (Order on MSJ at p. 4). Instead, the only evidence revealed in discovery was that Appellants have incurred legal fees and expenses in responding this action, neither of which are cognizable damages to support Appellants negligence claim. (Order on MSJ at p. 4). Given this glaring lack of evidentiary support, Judge McIntosh correctly ruled that Appellants' negligence claim fails.

Judge Seals' review of the Motion to Dismiss was based not on this evidence but on the allegations of the pleadings viewed in the light most favorable to the Appellants. Indeed, the facts considered by Judge McIntosh were not yet available for Judge Seals' review of the motion to dismiss and, even if known, consideration of these facts outside the pleadings is not permitted at the 12(b)(6) stage and would have converted the motion to one for summary judgment. See Rule 12(b), SCRPC (stating "[i]f, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56 . . ."). Consequently, because the Order on appeal addresses a motion for summary judgment based on new evidence revealed through the discovery process, it did not rescind or overrule Judge Seals' prior Order on Respondent Mizzel's Motion to Dismiss. Accordingly, the Order is not subject to reversal due to an alleged violation of the aforementioned rule.

## **II. THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO APPELLANTS' IMPROPER IMPLEADER.**

Appellants ask this Court to reconcile an alleged conflict regarding allocation of fault within the General Assembly's adoption of limited joint and several liability in its 2005 enactment of the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, codified at 15-38-10 et seq. (hereinafter the "Act"). However, as outlined herein, both the plain language of the Act and the legislative intent supporting that language are clear: allocation of fault under § 15-38-15 is inapplicable in a case such as this where the Plaintiff has chosen to file suit against only one defendant. Notwithstanding, Appellants have sought, improperly, to circumvent § 15-38-15 by impleading a nonparty for purposes of asserting that the nonparty is liable for any or all of Plaintiff's damages. For the reasons that follow, permitting Appellants to allocate fault under this scenario is not only against

the plain language of the statutory scheme, it is against both the legislative intent underpinning the Act and the firmly entrenched common law principle securing a plaintiff's right to choose which, if any, co-tortfeasors he will sue.

**a. § 15-38-15 did not abrogate a plaintiff's common law right to choose his defendant.**

It is well-settled under the common law that a plaintiff has the exclusive right to choose its defendant or to determine which co-tortfeasors he will sue. Chester v. S. Carolina Dep't of Pub. Safety, 388 S.C. 343, 345-46, 698 S.E.2d 559, 560 (2010) (finding "plaintiff chooses" rule not abrogated under identical provisions of the Tort Claims Act). As observed in Chester, "a ruling that a . . . defendant can compel a plaintiff to join other alleged tortfeasors as defendants in that suit would overturn this firmly entrenched common law principle." 388 S.C. at 346, 698 S.E.2d at 560. "Moreover, a concomitant ruling that where these defendants cannot be joined because they have already settled with the plaintiff, the action must be dismissed, would thwart our strong public policy favoring the settlement of disputes." Id. (citing Poston v. Barnes, 294 S.C. 261, 363 S.E.2d 888 (1987)).

Chester involved a tort claims act defendant and a virtually identically worded apportionment statute, 15-78-100(c) under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act ("SCTCA" or "TCA"). Importantly, applying this similar statutory language, the Court was "not persuaded that the General Assembly, in enacting § 15-78-100(c), giving a TCA defendant the right to a proportionate verdict 'when an alleged tortfeasor is named a party defendant,' intended to abrogate the tort plaintiff's right to choose her defendant, nor to effectively force the plaintiff to choose between settling with some parties and thereby forego her right to sue a TCA defendant, or going to trial against all co-tortfeasors." Id. at 346, 698 S.E.2d at 560 (citing Compare Wade v. Berkeley County, 348 S.C. 224, 559 S.E.2d 586 (2002)).

For these same reasons observed in Chester, there is likewise no indication that the General Assembly, in enacting § 15-38-15, intended to abrogate this right with regard to non-TCA claims or to force a plaintiff to choose between settling with some parties or going to trial against all co-tortfeasors. See e.g. Smalls v. S. Carolina Dep't of Educ., 339 S.C. 208, 218, 528 S.E.2d 682, 687 (Ct. App. 2000) (finding apportionment not warranted under similar provisions of the tort claims act where all other parties had settled and defendant was the only remaining party).

**b. Inclusion of nonparties on the verdict form for purposes of allocation of fault is against the language, purpose and legislative intent of § 15-38-15.**

Section 15-38-15 of the Act provides that the determination of joint and several liability is based on the defendant's percentage of fault relative to the fault of the other defendants and the plaintiff. Notably absent from the statutory scheme is any mention of fault allocation to non-defendants. Non-defendants are likewise not mentioned in the specific subsection regarding fault allocation, which states: "In determining the percentage attributable to *each defendant*, any fault of the plaintiff, as determined by item (2) above, will be included so that the total of the percentages of fault attributed to the plaintiff and to the defendants must be one hundred percent." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-15(C)(3). Specifically, section 15-38-15 of the Act provides, in relevant part:

(A) In an action to recover damages resulting from personal injury, wrongful death, or damage to property or to recover damages for economic loss or for noneconomic loss such as mental distress, loss of enjoyment, pain, suffering, loss of reputation, or loss of companionship resulting from tortious conduct, if indivisible damages are determined to be proximately *caused by more than one defendant*, joint and several liability does not apply to any defendant whose conduct is determined to be less than fifty percent of the total fault for the indivisible damages as compared with the total of: (i) the fault of all the defendants; and (ii) the fault (comparative negligence), if any, of plaintiff. A defendant whose conduct is determined to be less than fifty percent of the total fault shall only be liable for that percentage of the indivisible damages determined by the jury or trier of fact.

(B) Apportionment of percentages of fault among defendants is to be determined as specified in subsection (C).

(C) The jury, or the court if there is no jury, shall:

(1) specify the amount of damages;

(2) determine the percentage of fault, if any, of plaintiff and the amount of recoverable damages under applicable rules concerning “comparative negligence”; and

(3) *upon a motion by at least one defendant*, where there is a verdict under items (1) and (2) above for damages against two or more defendants for the same indivisible injury, death, or damage to property, specify in a separate verdict under the procedures described at subitem (b) below the percentage of liability that proximately caused the indivisible injury, death, damage to property, or economic loss from tortious conduct, as determined by item (1) above, that is attributable to each defendant whose actions are a proximate cause of the indivisible injury, death, or damage to property. In determining the percentage attributable to each defendant, any fault of the plaintiff, as determined by item (2) above, will be included so that the total of the percentages of fault attributed to the plaintiff and to the defendants must be one hundred percent. In calculating the percentage of fault attributable to each defendant, inclusion of any percentage of fault of the plaintiff (as determined in item (2) above) shall not reduce the amount of plaintiff’s recoverable damages (as determined under item (2) above).

\*

\*

\*

(D) *A defendant shall retain the right to assert that another potential tortfeasor, whether or not a party, contributed to the alleged injury or damages and/or may be liable for any or all of the damages alleged by any other party.*

(E) Notwithstanding the application of this section, setoff from any settlement received from any potential tortfeasor prior to the verdict shall be applied in proportion to *each defendant’s percentage of liability* as determined pursuant to subsection (C).

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-15 (emphasis added).

The plain language of § 15-38-15 clearly states that apportionment is only available between “two or more defendants”—not a defendant and a potential tortfeasor who is a nonparty, or even a third-party defendant. This language highlights one critical procedural threshold for joint liability to apply: that the joint tortfeasor must be an existing defendant. Thus, where, as here, the plaintiff has chosen to file suit against only one defendant, apportionment is not available under §

15-38-15. See e.g. Smalls, 339 S.C. at 218, 528 S.E.2d at 687 (finding apportionment not warranted under similar provisions of the tort claims act where all other parties had settled and defendant was the only remaining party). Likewise, a defendant cannot implead a potential tortfeasor to circumvent this procedural threshold for, as argued above, such an impleader would negate the well-settled “plaintiff chooses” rule, i.e. that a plaintiff has the exclusive right to choose which tortfeasors he will sue. Moreover, even if such an impleader is permitted, that party is still not a “defendant” for purposes of the Act—he is instead a “third-party defendant.”

Such an interpretation omitting non-defendants from fault allocation is consistent with the legislative intent of the Act. See Cabiness v. Town of James Island, 712 S.E.2d 416, 425 (2011) (“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is that the intent of the legislature must prevail if it reasonably can be discerned from the words used in the statute.”). Review of previous unadopted versions of the Act reveals the legislature considered but rejected language specifically permitting allocation of fault to non-defendants. For instance, one version proposed language requiring the fact finder to consider the fault of all tortfeasors, including that of non-defendants, stating: “In assessing percentages of fault, the trier of fact shall consider the fault of all persons who contributed to the alleged injury . . . regardless of whether the person was, or could have been, named as a party to the suit.” H.B. 3008, 2005 Leg., 116th Sess. § 15-32-30(A) (as referred to the H. Comm. on the Judiciary, Dec. 8, 2004). This version likewise provided the specific method for asserting the nonparty defense:

Negligence or fault of a nonparty may be considered if the plaintiff entered into a settlement agreement with the nonparty or if the defending party gives notice within one hundred twenty days of the date of the trial that a nonparty was wholly or partially at fault. The notice must be given by filing a pleading in the action designating the nonparty and setting forth the nonparty’s name and last-known address, or the best identification of the nonparty which is possible under the circumstances, together with a brief statement of the basis for believing the nonparty to be at fault.

H.B. 3008, 2005 Leg., 116th Sess. § 15-32-30(A) (as referred to the H. Comm. on the Judiciary, Dec. 8, 2004).

Another version of the Act specifically included a provision instructing the jury or court to consider the percentage fault of settled or released parties in determining each defendant's proportionate share of damages:

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